#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

# RAYMOND W. TOMPKINS, TRUSTEE

Appellant CASE NO. SC03-58

APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

(CASE NO. 5D01-3624)

(NINTH CIRCUIT CASE No. CI99-

CI-0959)

<b>FIRST</b>	UNION	<b>NATIONAL</b>
BANK,	et. al.	

v.

Appel	lees	

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT ON THE MERITS

Scott D. Clark, Esq. SCOTT D. CLARK, P.A. 655 W. Morse Boulevard, Suite 212 Winter Park, Florida 32789

> Telephone: (407) 647-7600 Facsimile: (407) 647-7622

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF FACTS

Raymond W. Tompkins, Trustee, the Appellant, will be referred to as "Plaintiff," "Tompkins" or "Appellant" for purposes of this Brief. The Appellees, First Union National Bank and First Union Brokerage Services, Inc., will be collectively referred to as "Defendant," "First Union" or "Appellee."

References to the Record refer to the Record of activity at the trial level as the same was transmitted to the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

This is an appeal from the opinion of the Fifth District declining to overturn the trial court's dismissal of Appellant's action under FLA. R. CIV. P. 1.420(e). As discussed below, Appellant contends that the Fifth District's decision conflicts with the decisions of other District Courts of Appeal and of this Court.

A brief discussion of the facts is helpful to this Court's review.

Tompkins became involved with Cecil T. Winters ("Winters"), Charles Bernardi ("Bernardi") and Capital Trading of North America, Inc. in certain investment opportunities in the 1990's. Tompkins was given certain assurances as to the security of his investments, but later became alarmed when it appeared that some of these assurances might not be true. When Tompkins pressed Winters and Bernardi as to his investment, they agreed to set up an escrow account with First Union, in which Tompkins would be given access to the funds or securities on deposit therein.

However, First Union failed to follow written instructions or otherwise hindered Tompkins in his efforts to obtain control over this account.<sup>1</sup>

The underlying action was filed against Winters, Bernardi, their dissolved corporation, and First Union, seeking damages under several theories. First Union was duly served with process, and the parties engaged in vigorous battles over the pleadings.

At the same time, Plaintiff found himself unable to perfect service of process over Bernardi and Winters. A default judgment had been obtained against Winters in an earlier action<sup>2</sup> and service was not critical as to him. However, Plaintiff was unable to locate and serve Bernardi. Plaintiff filed a Motion for Extension of Time to effect such service<sup>3</sup> and argued that it had located and served an individual by the same name who later appeared not to be the same Bernardi. The Motion reflected that Plaintiff was continuing in good faith to locate Bernardi and effect service.<sup>4</sup> An order was entered granting additional time for service on October 26, 1999.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See Record, Vol. 1, pages 64-70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Record, Vol. 1, page 134, ¶4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Record, Vol. 1, page 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Record, Vol. 1, page 44, ¶8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Record, Vol. 1, page 62.

After this Order, Plaintiff filed a Second Amended Complaint on June 9, 2000.<sup>6</sup> Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss the Second Amended Complaint on July 7, 2000.<sup>7</sup> The Motion was not set for hearing by Defendant.

On March 21, 2001, Plaintiff's prior counsel filed a Motion seeking to withdraw from the case and substituting Counsel,<sup>8</sup> which Motion was granted by Order of the Trial Court on April 6, 2001.<sup>9</sup> Both of these pleadings are apparent on the face of the Record.

On July 12, 2001, one year and five days after filing its Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint, Defendant served its Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute.<sup>10</sup> Notwithstanding the Motion and Order which were entered into the record in March and April of 2001, the Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute relied on certain precedent<sup>11</sup> to the effect that, contrary to the plain language of FLA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Record, Vol. 1, page 64.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Record, Vol. 1, page 113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Record, Vol. 1, page 119.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Record, Vol 1, page 122.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Record, Vol. 1, page 124.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Appellee cited <u>Boeing Co. v. Merchant</u>, 397 So.2d 399 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) and <u>Dion v. Bald</u>, 664 So.2d 348 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

R. CIV. P. 1.420(e)<sup>12</sup>, the Motion and Order regarding substitution of counsel did not constitute record activity for purposes of the motion to dismiss.

Plaintiff filed a Verified Response to the Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute.<sup>13</sup> The Response asserted that the location and service of Bernardi and Winters were a critical and essential ingredients of Plaintiff's case<sup>14</sup> and that the location of these individuals was important to locate documents and other records important to Plaintiff's case.<sup>15</sup> The Response further asserted that, during the one-year

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> 1.420(e) provides:

<sup>&</sup>quot;(e) Failure to Prosecute. All actions in which it appears on the face of the record that no activity by filing of pleadings, order of court, or otherwise has occurred for a period of 1 year shall be dismissed by the court on its own motion or on the motion of any interested person, whether a party to the action or not, after reasonable notice to the parties, unless a stipulation staying the action is approved by the court or a stay order has been filed or a party shows good cause in writing at least 5 days before the hearing on the motion why the action should remain pending. Mere inaction for a period of less than 1 year shall not be sufficient cause for dismissal for failure to prosecute."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Record, Vol. 1, page 126.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Record, Vol 1, page 129, ¶5. The Appellee had already filed an affirmative defense complaining of the absence of Bernardi and Winters' attorney as an indispensable party (Record, Vol. 1, page 59, ¶55), and would have certainly been expected to do the same if Appellant had sought to drop Bernardi.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup><u>Id.</u> The key issue with regard to the case against First Union was determining what instructions had been given to First Union by Bernardi or Winters regarding the assigned investment account. These individuals needed to be located for this purpose.

period immediately preceding the filing of Defendant's Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Prosecute, Plaintiff had engaged in non-record activity including the hiring of investigators in different areas of Florida, phone calls and other investigatory efforts to locate these individuals. This Response was not challenged at the Trial Court level as being inaccurate and was not met by any contravening evidence. As such, it was the only evidence before the Trial Court as to the issue of the good faith non-record activity of the Appellant.

After a hearing on August 16, 2001, the Trial Court entered its Final Order of Dismissal for Failure to Prosecute.<sup>17</sup> The Order focused on the Plaintiff's failure to serve Bernardi and Winters, and the fact that additional extensions of time were not obtained for serving them. Based on this, the Order found that good cause did not exist as to Plaintiff's non-record activity.<sup>18</sup> A Motion for Rehearing<sup>19</sup> was denied by the Trial Court,<sup>20</sup> after which Plaintiff appealed to the Fifth District.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Record, Vol 1, page 129, ¶6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Record, Vol 1. Page 133.

 $<sup>^{18}</sup>$ <u>Id</u>. at page 134, ¶¶3,4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Record, Vol 1, Page 136.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>Record, Vol. 1, Page 147.

The Fifth District affirmed the Trial Court.<sup>21</sup> Like the Trial Court, the Fifth District focused on the lack of service of process as being an inadequate reason to avoid dismissal. Although the allegations of the Response were the only evidence before the Trial Court on the issue, the Fifth District dismissed them as being an "excuse" and containing "bare assertions." Finally, the Fifth District found that the standard which was to have been applied to Appellant's assertions was that of whether they rose to the level of a "compelling reason which prevented or excused the prosecuting party from actively pursuing the case in court."<sup>22</sup>

From that decision, Appellant sought, and was granted, review by this Court.

The applicable standard of review is abuse of discretion, as to the second argument. Arguments one and three can be determined by a review of applicable law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>Tompkins v. First Union Nat. Bank, 833 So.2d 199 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup><u>Id.</u>, 833 So. 2d at 202. For this proposition, the Fifth District cited its own decision in <u>Weaver v. The Center for Business</u>, 578 So.2d 427 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), which relied upon <u>American Eastern Corp., v. Henry Blanton, Inc.</u>, 382 So.2d 863 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980). <u>American Eastern</u> required a high standard such as estoppel or calamity to show good cause associated with nonrecord activity.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

A. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH <u>DYE V.</u>
<u>SECURITY PACIFIC FINANCIAL SERVICES</u>, 828 SO.2D 1089
(FLA. 1ST DCA 2002) AND IS CONTRARY TO FLA. R. JUD.
ADMIN. 2.085.

In <u>Dye</u>, like the instant case, a motion to dismiss the complaint was pending before the trial court at the time of the dismissal for failure to prosecute. <u>Dye</u> held that the pendency of the motion precluded dismissal. The Fifth District's decision in the instant case is in direct conflict with <u>Dye</u>. <u>Dye</u> is consistent with the decision of this Court in <u>Fuster-Escalona v. Wisotsky</u>, 781 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 2000) and requires reversal in the instant case.

The <u>Dye</u> opinion resolves one of the criticisms of Rule 1.420(e) by not rewarding defendants when they bear part of the responsibility for cases not moving forward. It also resolves a conflict between Rule 1.420(e) and Florida Rules of Judicial Administration 2.085, which requires all attorneys, not just plaintiffs' attorneys to move cases forward. Since Rule 2.085 supercedes any conflicting rules, the rule of <u>Dye</u> is a necessary and logical extension of case law under Rule 1.420(e).

B. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH JAIN V. GREEN CLINIC, 830 SO.2D 836 (FLA. 2d DCA, 2002) AND, BY EXTENSION, WITH METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY V. HALL, 784 SO.2D 1087 (FLA. 2001) BECAUSE IT USES A STANDARD OF REVIEW WHICH IS NO LONGER APPLICABLE.

The Court in <u>Jain</u> found that efforts to locate a missing witness similar to those in the instant case constituted good cause for nonrecord activity to defeat dismissal. In distinguishing <u>Jain</u>, the Court below failed to apply the appropriate tests set forth in the opinions of this Court. The Fifth District decided the instant case on a standard that requires a "compelling reason," which has been defined as some calamity, estoppel, or misconduct, to find good cause. This Court's decision in <u>Hall</u> should be interpreted (and was interpreted in <u>Jain</u>) to lower the standard of review for non-record activity.

The Fifth District's application of the compelling reason standard relies on case law which is no longer good law, since this Court overruled cases applying the "compelling reason" standard when it decided <u>Hall</u>.

C. THE PLAIN WORDING OF FLA. R. CIV. P. 1.420(E) WOULD HAVE FOUND RECORD ACTIVITY TO HAVE EXISTED AND SHOULD HAVE BEEN APPLIED TO PREVENT DISMISSAL.

This Court's language in <u>Hall</u> suggests that record activity should be found to exist whenever a review of the face of the record discloses pleadings or orders of the

court which constitute record activity. This idea runs contrary to years of case law which have spawned confusing and inconsistent decisions about what constitutes record activity. Accordingly, the Second District has certified two cases to this Court asking it to determine whether, after <u>Hall</u>, record activity can be interpreted according to its plain meaning. Such an interpretation would require reversal in the instant case.

A proper construction of Rule 1.420(e) applies a rule of strict scrutiny, since the rule infringes upon access to the courts, an important common law and constitutional right. Nevertheless, this rule of strict scrutiny has not always been applied to applications of the Rule. Strict scrutiny requires that the Courts read the language of the Rule in accordance with its plain and common meaning. If this Court intends certain record activity not to constitute record activity for purposes of the Rule, it must do so explicitly, rather than through judicial interpretation.

#### **ARGUMENT**

A. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH <u>DYE V.</u>
<u>SECURITY PACIFIC FINANCIAL SERVICES</u>, 828 SO.2D 1089
(FLA. 1ST DCA 2002) AND IS CONTRARY TO FLA. R. JUD.
ADMIN. 2.085.

One of the criticisms of FLA. R. CIV. P. 1.420(e)<sup>23</sup> is that, while being adopted to "secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action"<sup>24</sup> it sometimes does the opposite. It has been noted that the Rule sometimes has an opposite effect from that intended when defendants merely wait to see if the one-year time period will pass rather than prosecuting a defense.<sup>25</sup> It is a fact of modern litigation that defendants are equally guilty many times for the lengthy process by filing repetitive motions to dismiss or otherwise resisting the progress of the case. The Rule, as applied in case law, has been criticized as being extremely harsh on plaintiffs while other portions of the Rules of Civil Procedure are lenient on the defendant who is not diligent.<sup>26</sup>

<sup>26</sup>Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>The writer will sometimes refer to this as the "Rule" in order to avoid repetitive citation where it is clear what rule is being referred to.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>FLA. R. CIV. P. 1.010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>The Misinterpretation of the Dismissal for Failure to Prosecute Rule, 75 FLA. B. J. 16 (October, 2001) at page 22.

In the instant case, the Appellant filed a second amended complaint on June 9, 2000. Appellee filed a motion to dismiss that complaint on July 7, 2000. Rather than set that motion for a hearing, Appellee sat idle until July 12, 2001, filed a motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute and then set that motion for a hearing.

In <u>Dye</u>, the Defendant similarly filed a motion to dismiss the Plaintiff's complaint, failed to set the motion for hearing, and then moved to dismiss for failure to prosecute after one year had elapsed. The <u>Dye</u> Court found that the duty to proceed on the motion to dismiss rested with the trial court, and that it was improper to dismiss the case while the motion to dismiss the complaint was pending. Thus the complaint was reinstated.

In reaching its decision, the <u>Dye</u> Court relied upon this Court's decision in <u>Fuster-Escalona v. Wisotsky</u>, 781 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 2000). In <u>Fuster-Escalona</u>, this Court held that, while a motion to recuse the trial judge was pending, the trial court improperly dismissed the action for failure to prosecute, even though the party having moved for the recusal had never called its motion up for hearing. The Plaintiff in <u>Fuster-Escalona</u> was an inmate who had filed a malpractice action and been at the wrong end of a dismissal with prejudice. The Plaintiff filed a motion for rehearing, then filed a motion to recuse the trial judge, and then did nothing for a year. The Fourth District upheld the trial court's decision of dismissal for failure to prosecute

on the basis that Plaintiff had done nothing to call its own motion for hearing. This Court reversed that decision, finding that it was up to the trial court to call up the motion for hearing and properly dispose of it.

Although the opinion in <u>Fuster-Escalona</u> dealt with a specific rule regarding recusal of judges, the concurring opinion of Justice Harding also dealt with the broader question of docket management:

"Trial judges have a duty to periodically review their dockets and bring up matters which the attorneys have not set for hearing. Moreover, my experience as a trial judge has convinced me that it is the judge's, not the attorneys', responsibility to ensure that cases move through the system appropriately . . . . *No motion should be left unheard for a year*." 781 So.2d at 1066. (Emphasis added).

While the <u>Dye</u> Court noted that the decision in <u>Fuster-Escalona</u> involved an interpretation of FLA. STAT. §38.10, it declined to limit the decision of this Court to that circumstance. That decision was based on two factors. First, it noted that the language of this Court's opinion in <u>Fuster-Escalona</u> was more broad than the application of a single statute.<sup>27</sup> Second, the <u>Dye</u> Court noted that the Fourth District had followed <u>Fuster-Escalona</u> and applied it to a pending motion to appoint a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>"Whenever a dispositive motion is pending before the court, and the parties are awaiting the court's ruling on that motion, the duty to proceed rests squarely upon the court." <u>Fuster-Escalona</u>, 781 So.2d at 1065.

commissioner to take an out-of-state deposition, even though that motion had not been called up for hearing. Thus, <u>Dye</u> found that this Court's language in <u>Fuster-Escalona</u> was more encompassing that the particular statute before it. The instant case and <u>Dye</u> raise a more compelling argument than <u>Abaddon</u> and <u>Fuster-Escalona</u> because they involve the failure of a defendant, the party seeking dismissal for non-prosecution, to call up its own motion, as opposed to the failure of a plaintiff to call up a motion. <u>Dye</u> takes this Court's decision in <u>Fuster-Escalona</u> to its logical extension by declining to reward the defendant who does not call up his own motion to dismiss.

The decision of the Fifth District below is directly in conflict with the decision in <u>Dye</u>, and by extension is in conflict with the decision of the Fourth District in <u>Abaddon</u> and with this Court's decision in <u>Fuster-Escalona</u>. It is also arguably in conflict with <u>Lukowsky v. Hauser & Metsch, P.A.</u>, 677 So.2d 1383 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), which this Court quoted with favor in <u>Fuster-Escalona</u> to establish the rule<sup>29</sup> upon which the <u>Dye</u> Court relied. Thus, the decision below is not only in direct conflict with <u>Dye</u>, but creates an arguable conflict with the Third and Fourth District Courts and this Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup><u>Abaddon, Inc. v. Schindler</u>, 826 So.2d 436 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). This Court declined to review Abaddon: Schindler v. Abaddon, Inc., 851 So.2d 729.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>See Note 2, supra..

FLA. R. CIV. P. 1.420(e) has been widely criticized both because of court interpretations which contradict the express language of the rule, and because its application in some instances encourages rather than discourages delay. The <u>Dve</u> Court deals with one of these issues by placing more responsibility on the trial court to take action on undisposed motions and by refusing to reward a defendant who purposely delays setting his own motion for hearing so that he can have the trial court later punish the plaintiff for not setting that motion for hearing. The <u>Dve</u> holding is not only consistent with Fuster-Escalona, but is in accord with Rule 2.085 of the Rules of Judicial Administration.<sup>30</sup> Any other interpretation of Rule 1.420(e) is in conflict with Rule 2.085, which requires courts to take control over the docket and requires all attorneys, not just plaintiffs, to move causes of action efficiently toward resolution. An interpretation of Rule 1.420(e) that punishes plaintiffs for lack of record activity, while rewarding a defendant who sits on his own motion, is contrary to Rule 2.085. Since FLA. R. JUD. ADMIN. 2.010 provides, in part, that "these rules shall supersede all conflicting rules and statutes," the <u>Dve</u> Court took the only action which properly reconciles these two Rules and does not violate Rule 2.085.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>See, *The Misinterpretation of the Dismissal for Failure to Prosecute Rule*, 75 FLA. B. J. 16 (October, 2001). The author therein suggests that FLA. R. JUD. ADM. 2.085 should supercede FLA. R. CIV. P. 1.420(e) in a case like the instant case, where a pending motion remains unresolved for more than a year. This interpretation is consistent with <u>Dve</u>.

This Court should reverse the Fifth District, approving of <u>Dye</u> and upholding its decision in Fuster-Escalona.

B. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH JAIN V. GREEN CLINIC, 830 SO.2D 836 (FLA. 2d DCA, 2002) AND, BY EXTENSION, WITH METROPOLITAN DADE COUNTY V. HALL, 784 SO.2D 1087 (FLA. 2001) BECAUSE IT USES A STANDARD OF REVIEW WHICH IS NO LONGER APPLICABLE.

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