IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: SC03-58 LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NO: 5 D01-3624

RAYMOND W. TOMPKINS, TRUSTEE,

Appellant,

vs.

FIRST UNION NATIONAL BANK, et al.,

Appellees.

APPELLEES' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JANET M. COURTNEY, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 0451088 MATTHEW G. BRENNER, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 515681 Lowndes, Drosdick, Doster, Kantor & Reed, P.A. 215 North Eola Drive Post Office Box 2809 Orlando, Florida 32802 Telephone: (407) 843-4600 Facsimile: (407) 843-4444

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

Again, the Fifth District in this case did not rule that the search for a missing witness is not sufficient non-record activity. It ruled that TOMPKINS' Verified Response was deficient because it consisted of nothing more than "bare contentions" and failed to account for why no record activity was undertaken with respect to the case against FIRST UNION. Therefore, the instant case differs significantly both factually and procedurally from what occurred in Jain.

In the instant case, moreover, it is clear that there was no contact between counsel during the year preceding the filing of the motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution, and issues of courtesy and professionalism are not at issue. Four of the five district courts of appeal in Florida are uniform in holding that good cause requires "some contact with the opposing party *and* some form of excusable conduct or occurrence which arose other than through negligence or inattention to pleading deadlines." (emphasis supplied) <u>Dion v. Bald</u>, 664 So.2d 348, 350 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999); <u>Modellista De Europa v. Redpath Investment Corporation</u>, 714 So.2d 1098, 1100 (Fla. 4^h DCA 1998) <u>rev. denied</u> 728 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1998); <u>National Enterprises, Inc. v. Foodtech Hialeah, Inc.</u>, 777 So.2d 1191, 1195 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2001); <u>Edgecombe v. American Gen. Corp.</u>, 613 So.2d 123, (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). In the instant case there is no dispute that there was no contact between counsel during the year preceding the order on appeal.

In <u>Jain</u>, the trial court dismissed the case for lack of prosecution because the plaintiff failed to demonstrate contact with the defendants during the relevant one-year period. During the one-year period, Jain's attorney attempted to locate a witness believed to be important to the ultimate resolution of the case. The witness was finally tracked down on January 8, 2001, one day prior to the filing of the motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution.

When Jain's lawyer asked the witness to provide dates for his deposition, the witness replied that he would not do so until after he had conferred with the attorney for the defendant. Defense counsel advised the witness, however, that the witness should not speak with Jain's lawyer and that the witness should require a subpoena for deposition. On January 9, 2001, the same date on which the motion

to dismiss was filed, Jain's attorney contacted opposing counsel to seek available dates to depose the witness.

In reversing the trial court's ruling on appeal, the Second District found as persuasive the fact that it was only because Jain's lawyer had courteously contacted opposing counsel to coordinate calendars instead of immediately filing a notice of deposition that the one-year dismissal period under Rule 1.420(e) had continued to run. The court found that to avoid the possibility that an arbitrarily-chosen deposition date would later be determined to violate the discovery rules, Jain's lawyer contacted opposing counsel in advance, and that contact was made the same date on which the motion to dismiss was filed. <u>Id.</u> at 873. The facts in <u>Jain</u> are not in any way analogous to the facts of the instant case, and the Fifth District correctly acknowledged that it turned on a professionalism issue not present in this case. 833 So.2d at 199-201 n.3.

G. <u>The plain wording of Rule 1.420(e) does not require reversal.</u>

The stated objective of Rule 1.420(e), as indicated in its title, is dismissal of an action for *"failure to prosecute"*. Thus, mere *passive* activity, not designed to *prosecute* an action, does not fall within the ambit of the rule, and courts have properly interpreted the rule as such.

Although there are some significant differences, Rule 1.420 in most respects derives from its federal counterpart, Federal Rule 41, which has not materially changed since its adoption in 1938. The federal rule first became Florida's 1950

Common Law Rule 35, and then 1954 Rule of Civil Procedure 1.35, before being adopted as Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420. The provision for dismissal for failure to prosecute located in subdivision (e) of the Rule, however, came not from the federal rule, but from Section 45.19(1), Florida Statutes, which was in effect from October of 1947 until it was repealed in 1967. <u>See, In Re: Florida Rules of Civil Procedure 1967 Revision</u>, 187 So.2d 598, 624 (Fla. 1966) (committee note to adoption of Rule 1.420, referring to Federal Rule 41 and Section 45.19(1), Florida Statutes, which had governed dismissal for lack of prosecution and is addressed in the succeeding footnote and accompanying text); <u>see, also</u>, 30A West F.S. A at 98 (1985) (historical note); <u>Chrysler Leasing Corp. v. Passacantilli</u>, 259 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1972). The Statute provided as follows:

All actions at law or suits in equity pending in the several courts of the state, and instituted subsequent to 12:00 noon, October 1, 1947, in which there shall not affirmatively appear from some action taken by filing of pleadings, order of court, or otherwise, that the same is being prosecuted, for a period of one year, shall be deemed abated for want of prosecution and the same shall be dismissed by the court having jurisdiction of the cause, upon its own motion or upon motion of any person interested, whether a party to the action or suit or not, with no notice to opposing counsel, provided that actions or suits dismissed under the provisions hereof may be reinstated by petition upon good cause shown to the court filed by any party in interest within one month after such order of dismissal.

Section 45.19(1), Fla. Stat. Section (2) of the same statute was virtually identical to Section (1) but it addressed cases instituted prior to October 1, 1947, it provided a

three-year period for actions and it afforded the party six months after dismissal to seek reinstatement for good cause.

Section 45.19 was repealed in 1967 by Chapter 67-254, Laws of Florida and Rule 1.420 addressing dismissals was adopted because of the requirement at that time that all statutes concerning court procedure be codified as rules. Although Rule 1.420(e) superseded Section 45.19(1) and provided for a slightly different practice upon the presentation of a motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution, adoption of the rule and its subsequent amendment were not intended to change any of the decisions construing what constitutes lack of prosecution, and prior opinions of the courts remained persuasive as to the meaning of the terms employed. <u>Dade County v. Moreno</u>, 227 So.2d 548, 549 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1969). Chrysler Leasing Corporation v. Passacantilli, 259 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1972) <u>citing LaCoe</u>, Florida Pleading, Practice and Legal Forms Annotated, Volume 2, at 641 (2nd Edition 1971).

The purpose of the statute was to speed decision of disputes by penalizing those who would allow their litigation to become stagnant. <u>Suddeth v. Wright</u>, 55 So.2d 189, 190 (Fla. 1951); <u>May v. Ervin</u>, 96 So.2d 126, 127 (Fla. 1957) ("the statute is a declaration that the public policy requires the prompt dispatch of the court's business"). The 1968 amendment to Rule 1.420(e) eliminating a double hearing procedure associated with implementation of the rule similarly was not

designed or intended to change previous court decisions as to what constituted "prosecution." <u>Whitney</u>, 241 So.2d 436, 438 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1970).

This Court, as early as 1951, in construing the now-repealed statute that preceded Rule 1.420(e), held that changing counsel was not to be considered "activity" to constitute prosecution of a cause under the statute sufficient to prevent dismissal. Gulf Appliance Distributors, Inc. v. Long, 53 So.2d 706 (Fla. 1951). In doing so, the Court cited with approval Augusta Sugar Co. v. Haley, 163 La. 814, 112 So. 731 (La. 1927), wherein the Louisiana Supreme Court construed a similar statute and stated as follows: "We think that a step in the prosecution of a suit means something more than a mere passive effort to keep the suit on the docket of the court; *it means some active measure taken by plaintiff, intended and calculated* to hasten the suit to judgment." (emphasis in the original). Gulf_Appliance, 53 So.2d at 707. In the original Louisiana court opinion, the court explained that the purpose of its statute was "to put an end to the prevailing practice of filing suit to interrupt prescription and *then letting the suit hang perpetually over the head of the* defendant unless he himself should force the issue; in other words, of putting on the defendant the burden of showing that plaintiff's claim was unfounded." (emphasis supplied). Haley, 112 So.2d at 732.

This Court has consistently reiterated that purpose of Rule 1.420(e) in decisions from 1951 through the present. In <u>Eastern Elevator v. Page</u>, 263 So.2d 218, 220 (Fla. 1951), the Court stated as follows:

We are interested today in moving causes and expediting litigation in the proliferation of increasing lawsuits. The purpose of the rule is best served by recognizing and encouraging a sufficient prosecution 'action on the part of either party which is more than a mere passive effort' when it is an affirmative act directed toward the disposition of the cause.

In Barnett Bank v. Fleming, 508 So.2d 718, 719 (Fla. 1987), this Court stated that "the purpose of Rule 1.420(e) is to encourage prompt and efficient prosecution of cases and to clear trial dockets of litigation that essentially has been abandoned accordingly, the courts generally have defined 'record activity' as any act reflected in the court file that was designed to move the case forward toward a conclusion on the merits or to hasten the suit to judgment." See, also, Del Duca v. Anthony, 587 So.2d 1306 (Fla. 1991) (dismissal should be granted if the discovery has been undertaken primarily to avoid dismissal and is without any design to move the case forward to a conclusion on its merits); Metropolitan Dade County v. Hall, 784 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 2001) (whether activity was done in good faith and whether the activity was with any design to move the case forward, are components in evaluating whether good cause exists); Moossun v. Orlando Regional Health Care, 826 So.2d 945 (Fla. 2002) (trial court's order setting a case management conference did not constitute sufficient record activity to preclude dismissal for failure to prosecute).

This Court's precedent has similarly been applied by the district courts of appeal. <u>See, e.g., St. Anne Airways Corp. v. Larotonda</u>, 308 So.2d 129 (Fla. 3rd

DCA 1975) (the test is whether an act was intended to hasten the suit to judgment); Dashew v. Marks, 352 So.2d 554 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977) (plaintiff erred in waiting for defense counsel to draft an order for the court following the court's verbal ruling on motions at a hearing, and court's delay did not excuse non-action; plaintiff must be diligent in its own right); Pierstorff v. Stroud, 454 So.2d 564 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984) (addition of language "on the face of the record" did not alter the trial court's duty to act after a proper notice for trial was filed); Overseas Development, Inc. v. Amerifirst Federal Savings & Loan Association, 433 So.2d 587 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983) (to prevent dismissal, the action must be a legal prerequisite to prosecution or must advance the matter toward resolution; record activity during the year which, in the opinion of the trial court, does not constitute adversarial action is insufficient to prevent dismissal for non-prosecution); Wimbley v. Jacksonville Moving & Storage Company, 624 So.2d 323 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (record activity must constitute an affirmative act calculated to move the suit toward judgment); Simmons v. Dakal Development Corp., 632 So.2d 717 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1994) (the action necessary to avoid dismissal must be an affirmative act moving the case toward disposition, not passive effort).

Additionally, this Court's long-standing holding that a motion and order approving substitution of counsel is not to be considered "activity" to constitute prosecution of the case sufficient to prevent dismissal in <u>Gulf Appliance</u>, has been confirmed by the district courts of appeal. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Nesbitt v. Community Health</u>

of South Dade, Inc., 566 So.2d 1 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990); (notices of withdrawal and substitution of counsel are a passive and insufficient record activity to avoid dismissal); <u>Philips v. Marshall Berwick Chevrolet, Inc.</u>, 467 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) (passive activity, such as name change or substitution of counsel, is not sufficient activity to avoid dismissal).

In Toney v. Freeman, 600 So.2d 1099 (Fla. 1992), this Court addressed a conflict between the Fourth District and Second District concerning what constitutes record activity. The defendants filed an answer to the complaint on November 3, 1998, which constituted the only record activity until February 9, 1990, when the trial court entered an order requiring the parties to advise the court why the case had exceeded established time standards, why the case had not been noticed for trial, and when discovery would be complete. A few weeks later, on March 6, 1990, the court gave the parties notice of its motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution. The court dismissed the action and, on appeal, the district court reversed, holding that the trial court's status order and the defendant's response constituted sufficient record activity to prevent dismissal of the case. This Court reversed the district court of appeal's decision, noting that record activity must be more than a mere passive effort to keep the case on the docket; the activity must constitute an affirmative act calculated to hasten the suit to judgment. 600 So.2d at 1100. The Court stated that:

We also find this reasoning to be consistent with the spirit and purpose of the rule. *Trial judges should be*

encouraged to take an active role in keeping themselves informed of the cases assigned to them. We refuse to construe appropriate case management activities in such a way as to give the parties leave to ignore the case for another year before dismissal is possible. Such a construction would thwart the purpose of case management and the purpose of the rule itself - to encourage prompt and efficient prosecution of cases and to clear court dockets of cases that have essentially been abandoned. (emphasis added)

<u>Id</u>. The plaintiff in <u>Toney</u> argued that the status order and response constituted record activity because the order asked counsel to respond to questions designed to advance the case towards resolution and because the defendant's response indicating that the plaintiff had died further advanced the case. This Court found that the status order was designed to obtain information about the progress of the case; it did not move the case forward in the sense of a progression towards resolution.

Finally, TOMPKINS cites only two cases in support of the sweeping statement he makes on Pages 21 and 22 of his Initial Brief that "the case law interpreting Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420(e) has been widely criticized." The cases consist of a discussion in the specially concurring opinion of Judge Schwartz in <u>National Enterprises v. Foodtech of Hialeah</u>, 777 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2001) and the dissent of Judge Griffin in <u>Levine v. Kaplan</u>, 687 So.2d 863 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) and <u>Nichols v. Lohr</u>, 776 So.2d 366 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). The statements of two judges do not constitute "wide criticism."

Judge Schwartz in <u>National Enterprises</u>, furthermore, agreed with the result in the majority opinion that dismissed the case for lack of prosecution where two notices of hearing that were legal nullities (because they were directed to a motion already disposed of by the trial court) were found not to constitute sufficient record activity to prevent dismissal. In <u>Levine</u>, the question was whether a deposition that had been taken during the year preceding dismissal but was not filed with the court constituted record activity. And in <u>Nichols</u>, an amended notice of deposition was filed during the one-year dismissal period, but it was filed in the wrong case. None of those circumstances are applicable to the instant case. It must be noted, moreover, that despite her concerns with Rule 1.420(e) in these dissents, Judge Griffin authored the opinion that is before this Court, and wrote that ". . . this seems the rare case where Rule 1.420(e) should be and has been applied according to its express terms. 833 So.2d at 201.

CONCLUSION

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